
 

 

Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG 

 
 
 

SPECIAL EXECUTIVE 
AGENDA 

 
Venue:  This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore  
                                  will not take place in a physical location.  
Date:   Friday, 6th November, 2020 
Time:   10.00 am 
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby          Tel: 01946 598328 

 

1. Attendances and Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:   

3. Local Government Reorganisation and Devolution  1 - 10 

 
NOTES 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers 
except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. If you have a 
query on the meeting arrangements or if you require a copy of this document 
in a different format (large print, braille, audio tape, electronic formats such 
as CD or in a different language) please contact the relevant officer as shown 
below.  
 
Call-In 
Most of the decisions taken by the Executive can be ‘called in’, in accordance 
with Council’s Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision notice being 
published. It is expected that the decision notice will be published on 11th 
November 2020. Subject to this publication, the deadline for calling in any 
decision is 5.00pm on Wednesday  
18th November 2020.  
 
Reporting  
Recording, filming and reporting of this meeting is allowed but must be done 
in accordance with the protocol which is clearly displayed in the room and all 
mobile devices must be switched to silent. 
 

Contacts:  Direct Dial: 01946 598328 
   E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk 

    Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 Executive 06/11/20 

Local Government Reorganisation and Devolution 

 

LEAD MEMBER: Mayor Mike Starkie (Portfolio holder for Strategic 

Leadership (to include finance, strategic partnerships, 

corporate reputation and growth). 

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham, Chief Executive. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Clinton Boyce, Solicitor. 
 
WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS? 
Reorganising local authorities, particularly into a unitary authority, will provide an 
opportunity to optimise efficient services, streamline operations and rationalise 
costs of local government.  It is important for the residents of Copeland, and 
indeed Cumbria, that these benefits are achieved, whilst recognising the 
communities of the county, the geography of the county, the economy of the 
county and ensuring that local democratic accountability is maintained.  It is 
believed this can be achieved if two unitary authorities are created in Cumbria. 
 
WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE (e.g. Key Decision, Policy 

recommendation for Full Council, at request of Council, etc.)? 

It is a key decision. It seeks Executive approval for the outline proposal for unitary 
local government in Cumbria to be submitted to the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (‘MHCLG’) for the creation of two unitary 
councils and the dissolution of the existing county council and six district councils. 
  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That the Executive notes the information contained within the report and agrees 

to: 

(a) Exercise its right as the determining body in the function of responding to 

the invitation from the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and 

Local Government dated 9th October 2020 (the invitation) pursuant to the 

Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007; 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Elected 

Mayor, to submit to the Secretary of State the outline proposal for two 

unitary authorities for Cumbria by the 9th November 2020; 

(c) Delegate authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Elected 

Mayor, to continue to work with one or more of the Cumbrian Authorities 

to submit a final proposal alongside the financial case to the Secretary of 

State to comply with the stated deadline of by 9th December; 

(d) consolidate the combination of Copeland and Allerdale as one economic 

prosperity area that must not be divided in any two unitary model for 

Cumbria; and 

 

(e) allocate a further £25,000 in addition to the £25,000 previously approved 

from contingencies by the Executive to further support the project, and, 

delegate the use of the resources to the Chief Executive in consultation 

with the Elected Mayor. 

HIGHLIGHTED RISKS: 

The most significant risk for the Council is that a failure to submit a proposal within 
the deadline of the 9th December 2020 will mean that the proposal may not be 
considered by the Secretary of State.  The consequence of this may result in the 
MHCLG considering the Cumbria County Council bid already submitted with more 
weight, credibility and relevance, which contradicts the belief of a two unitary model 
being the best option for the Borough, its communities and businesses. 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Government has announced its intention to publish a White Paper on 

Devolution and Local Economic Recovery. This was originally planned for 
publication in October 2020 but latest government indications are that it is 
likely to be delayed until early 2021.  The White Paper is expected to set out 
proposals for the reform of local government as part of proposals for 
devolving more powers to unitary authorities. 

 
 
 

Page 2



 

 
1.2   Following a meeting with the Minister for State for Regional Growth and Local 

Government and local authority leaders in Cumbria, a request was made of 
the Government by Allerdale Borough Council, Copeland Borough Council and 
Carlisle City Council to initiate the local government reorganisation process in 
Cumbria. 

 
1.3 Subsequent to this request an invitation was received from the Head of the 

Governance Reform and Democracy Unit at MHCLG, on behalf of the 
Secretary of State, to submit a proposal for unitary government in this area.  
The Council, alongside all Cumbrian Authorities was invited to submit a 
proposal, or, make a proposal jointly with any of the five other district 
councils in Cumbria. 

 
1.4 An outline proposal is being produced jointly with Allerdale Borough Council 

for two unitary councils to be formed in Cumbria.   
 
1.5 KPMG have been appointed jointly by the four northern districts to support us 

in drafting our proposals.  They will carry out a review of options for 
reorganisation to identify the optimal model for reorganisation which will 
deliver not only stronger democracy but the devolution agenda. 

 
1.6 The outline proposal will be submitted by 9th November 2020, followed by a 

full proposal by 9th December 2020. 
 
1.7 This paper summarises the stages of the process. 
 
2.0 BACKGROUND ON LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION 
 
2.1 Local Authorities are created by statute or royal charter. The current system 

of local government in Cumbria was created by the Local Government Act 
1972 which introduced a major reorganisation of local government. 

 
2.2 The model of governance has been almost continuously changing and has 

accelerated in recent years with the creation, largely on a voluntary basis of 
unitary councils, or where they already exist, the creation of combined 
authorities under a directly Elected Mayor.   

 
 
 
 

Page 3



 

 
3.0 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
 
3.1 There are two procedures under the 2007 Act relating to local government 

restructuring: 
  

(a)   Invitation by the Secretary of State for proposals to local government  
restructuring; and  

 
(b)   Following a review by the Local Government Boundary Commission for  

England. 
 
3.2 In 2019 the then Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government set out in a written statement to the Commons the specific 
circumstances in which he would be prepared to issue a formal invitation to 
councils under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act  
2007 to submit proposals of new unitary councils. He indicated that the 
Government was supportive of councils that wished to combine when locally 
requested, but was not in favour of unitarisation being imposed top down.  

 
3.3 A further white paper on local government reorganisation and devolution 

was expected in the Autumn of 2020, but has not yet been published. It has 
been suggested that the option of veto, which currently exists in legislation, 
will be removed. It is likely that the White Paper will be published whilst this 
process is ongoing.  

 
4.0 PROCESS 
 
4.1 On the 9th July 2020 the Leaders of the Local Authorities in Cumbria met 

with the Minister for State for Regional Growth and Local Government. At 
that meeting it was confirmed that local authorities in Cumbria could ask the 
Secretary of State to invite proposals for local government reorganisation in 
Cumbria and that multiple proposals could be submitted covering the same 
area.  

 
4.2 Further to that meeting the Deputy Leader of Allerdale, the Leader of Carlisle 

City Council and the Mayor of Copeland wrote to the Minister to ask that the 
local government reorganisation process for Cumbria be started.  

 
 
 

Page 4



 

 
4.3 In reply, an invitation from the Secretary of State was issued on 9th October 

2020 to Cumbria County Council and the six Cumbrian District Councils to 
submit by 9th November 2020 at least an outline proposal, and if a full 
proposal has not been submitted by that date, the full proposal must be 
submitted as soon as practicable after that date and by no later than 9th 
December 2020. 

 
4.4 The guidance from the Secretary of State requires that a proposal should 

seek to achieve for the area concerned the establishment of a single tier of 
local government, that is, the establishment of one or more unitary 
authorities: 

 
(a) which are likely to improve local government and service delivery 

across the area of the proposal, giving greater value for money, 
generating savings, providing stronger strategic and local leadership, 
and which are more sustainable structures;  

 
(b) which command a good deal of local support as assessed in the round 

overall across the whole area of the proposal; and  
 

(c) where the area of each unitary authority is a credible geography 
consisting of one or more existing local government areas with an 
aggregate population which is either within the range 300,000 to 
600,000, or such other figure that, having regard to the circumstances 
of the authority, including local identity and geography, could be 
considered substantial. 

 
4.5   The guidance states that the following matters should be taken into account 

in formulating a proposal: 
 

(a) a proposal should describe clearly the single tier local government 
structures it is putting forward, and explain how, if implemented, these 
are expected to achieve the outcomes described in paragraph 1 above; 

 
(b) the need for evidence and analysis to support a proposal and any 

explanation of the outcomes it is expected to achieve, including 
evidence of a good deal of local support; 

 

 

 

Page 5



 

 

(c) the impact of any proposed unitary authorities on other local 

boundaries and geographies. If the area of any proposed unitary 

authority crosses existing police force and fire and rescue authority 

boundaries, the proposal should include an assessment of what the 

impact would be on the police forces and/or fire and rescue authorities 

and include the views of the relevant Police and Crime Commissioners 

and Fire and Rescue Authorities; 

 

(d)  any wider context for any proposed unitary authorities around 
promoting economic recovery and growth, including possible future 
devolution deals and mayoral combined authorities; 

 

(e) If the proposal submitted by 9th November 2020 is an outline proposal 
it should indicate what further material is expected to be provided and 
when this would be submitted which should be no later than 9th 
December 2020. 

 
4.6 The development of the necessary documents to support the proposal to 

Government requires external resources and therefore Executive is asked to 
agree a further £25,000 budget for this work in addition to the £25,000 
previously approved in September 2020, bringing the anticipated total spend 
to £50,000.  The overall cost of engaging KPMG consultancy is shared with 
agreed equal input form the partnering submission authorities. 

 
4.7 The business case needs to be underpinned with some form of consultation 

with the public, service users, the community, voluntary and business sectors, 
and other stakeholders to provide evidence of support for the proposal.   

 
4.8 As stated, proposals for a unitary authority are submitted under Part 1 of the 

Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. As the Act 
makes no specific reference to a decision maker on submission of proposals, 
the decision is an Executive decision, as under the Local Government Act 2000 
(section 9D(2)) any function of a local authority not specifically assigned a 
decision maker in regulations is to be a function of the Executive of the 
authority.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



 

 
4.9 The options appraisals, that is, possible and permitted multiple proposal 

submissions from Cumbria, will be determined by Government. Once the 
proposals are submitted, the Secretary of State will consider them and then 
decide whether to formally consult before making a decision and for how 
long.  If Government consider there are credible options upon which to 
consult, the process would commence in February and a decision taken 
shortly thereafter on whether the 2020 County Council and (where applicable) 
District Council elections would be cancelled.  The Police and Crime 
Commissioner elections will proceed as planned. 

 
4.10 If the proposal is approved by the Secretary of State then the Ministry of 

Housing, Communities and Local Government would work with the councils to 
progress the necessary Structural Change Order. 

 
5.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
5.1 Cumbria is a larger and diverse county. Unlike other larger county areas it has 

no natural hub and spoke model with communities orientating in different 
directions for their community, economic and cultural lives.  This is evidenced 
by the fact that even the County Council have a north and south base (Carlisle 
and Kendal).  Health is also split north and south and all County Council 
services operate in sub divisions across the county.   

 
5.2  Whilst any model can be made to work in any geographical footprint, and 

there is no doubt that unitarisation will remove duplication and confusion, 
whilst creating efficiencies, it remains a priority that our communities to 
recognise and feel part of local decision making.  

 
5.3 It is also vital that services are maintained and improved during this change, 

and that services are not made so large, so remote and too unwieldy to be 
effective.   

 
5.4 Our preferred model therefore is to create two unitary authorities in Cumbria, 

this will ensure that service delivery remains at the heart of decision making 
and accessible to our communities.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 

 
5.5   There are a number of ways in which the two unitary model can be 

constructed.  We believe that the housing market areas, travel to work areas, 
nuclear economy footprint, and our cultural identity make a compelling case 
for Copeland, Allerdale and Carlisle to form one unitary, this also clearly meets 
the MHCLG criteria and ensures  local democratic accountability.   Further 
work on a fuller business case is ongoing in readiness for the 9th December 
deadline.  It is however our intention that preferred proposal will form the 
basis of our outline submission by the 9th November. 
 

6.0     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 
 
6.1 Legal comments are included within the report. 
 
6.2 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are contained within report. 
 
6.3 Section 151 Officer’s comments are: The financial implications of   
 preparing a unitary proposal for submission to the Secretary of State   
 for the creation of a unitary council in the ‘North’ of the County are   
 set out in this report. The proposal will include a financial case and   
 proposed timetable. 
 
6.4 EIA comments: Equality impacts will be considered as detailed work   
 on the proposed model is further developed. 
 
6.5 Policy framework: Local Government Reorganisation and Devolution   
 would provide the residents of Cumbria with a model of local    
 government that is better placed to deliver the strategic ambitions   
 laid out in the Council Strategy. 
 
6.6 Other consultee comments, if any: none.  
 
7.0 RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
As set out above.  

 
8.0 HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE  

RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 
The proposals will be managed by the Chief Executive. 

 

Page 8



 

 
 
9.0 WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 

REPORT? 
 
 Independent research indicates that substantial savings can be achieved by 

local government reorganisation as well as enabling the public to have clarity 
over who is responsible for particular functions. Further information on  
savings, streamlining of services, efficiencies etc., will come from detail in the 
proposal. 

 
List of appendices:  
 
None 
 
List of background documents: 
 
Outline proposal for Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria; and 
 
Letter of invitation from the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Local Government Reorganisation and Devolution

